Earth Negotiations Bulletin

A Reporting Service for Environment and Devel opment Negotiations

Vol. 15No. 4

Published by the International Institute for Sustainable Development

Monday, 16 March 1998

REPORT OF THE FIFTH SESSION OF THE INC

FOR AN INTERNATIONAL LEGALLY BINDING

INSTRUMENT FOR THE APPLICATION OF THE

PRIOR INFORMED CONSENT PROCEDURE FOR

CERTAIN HAZARDOUS CHEMICALSAND

PESTICIDESIN INTERNATIONAL TRADE:
9-14 MARCH 1998

Thefifth session of the Intergovernmental Negotiating Committee
(INC-5) for an International Legally Binding Instrument for the Appli-
cation of the Prior Informed Consent (PIC) Procedure for Certain
Hazardous Chemicals and Pesticidesin International Tradewas held
from 9-14 March 1998 in Brussels. Delegatesmet in Plenary, aLegal
Drafting Group and several contact groupsto consider a consolidated
draft text of articlesfor the instrument and proposals from the US and
the European Community (EC). In apush to finalize the Convention
text by the end of the session, del egates met during the eveningsand on
Saturday. Over one hundred conference room papers (CRPs) were
produced during the six-day session.

Almost two yearsto the day after thefirst INC, adraft PIC Conven-
tion has now been completed. Del egates expressed relief and varying
degrees of satisfaction at the completion of adifficult and compressed
negotiating process. The number of negotiating sessionsheld
throughout the week and the small but significant number of
outstanding issues | eft for resolution at INC-5 suggested that the orig-
inal goal of completing the Convention by the end of 1997 had been
somewhat unrealistic. It also underlined the difficulties of the seem-
ingly simpletask of transforming an existing voluntary procedureinto
alegally binding agreement. Nevertheless, del egates have now
fulfilled their mandate and their Ministerswill gather in Rotterdam
later thisyear for the Diplomatic Conference and signing ceremony.
Overall, completion of the PIC Conventionisasmall but significant
step towards a more comprehensive and sustainableinternational
chemical management framework.

A BRIEFHISTORY OF THE PIC NEGOTIATIONS

Growth ininternationally traded chemicals during the 1960s and
1970sled to increasing concern over pesticides and industrial chem-
ical use, particularly in developing countriesthat lacked the expertise
or infrastructure to ensure their safe use. This prompted the devel op-
ment of the International Code of Conduct for the Distribution and
Use of Pesticides by the FAO and the London Guidelinesfor the
Exchange of Information on Chemicalsin International Trade by
UNEP. Both the Code of Conduct and the L ondon Guidelinesinclude
procedures aimed at making information about hazardous chemicals
more readily avail able, thereby permitting countriesto assessthe
risks associated with their use. In 1989, both instruments were

amended to include the Prior Informed Consent (PIC) procedureto
help countries make informed decisions on the import of chemicals
that have been banned or severely restricted.

Managed jointly by the FAO and UNEP, the PIC procedureisa
meansfor formally obtaining and disseminating the decisions of
importing countries on whether they wish to receive future shipments
of such chemicals. Theaim isto promote ashared responsibility
between exporting and importing countriesin protecting human health
and the environment from the harmful effects of certain hazardous
chemicalsbeing traded internationally. Thevoluntary PIC procedureis
designed to:

« help participating countries learn more about the characteristics o
potentially hazardous chemicals that may be imported;

« initiate a decision-making process on the future import of these
chemicals; and

« facilitate the dissemination of these decisions to other countries.

When the United Nations Conference on Environment and Devel
opment (UNCED) convened in Rio de Janeiro in June 1992, delegat
recognized that the use of chemicals is essential to meet social and
economic goals, while also acknowledging that a great deal remains
be done to ensure the sound management of chemicals. Chapter 19
Agenda 21, the programme of action adopted by UNCED, contains ¢
international strategy for action on chemical safety. Paragraph
19.38(b) calls on States to achieve by the year 2000 the full participa
tion in and implementation of the PIC procedure, including possible
mandatory applications of the voluntary procedures contained in the
amended London Guidelines and the International Code of Conduct

In November 1994, the 107th meeting of the FAO Council agreed
that the FAO Secretariat should proceed with the preparation of a dr:
PIC Convention as part of the FAO/UNEP Programme on PIC in coo

INTHISISSUE
A Brief History of the PIC Negotiations. . ............... 1
Reportof INC-5. ... ... .. . 2
Organizational Matters .. ....................... 2
Negotiation of the Draft Convention............... 2
ClosingPlenary. .......... .. .. ... g
ABrief Analysisof INC-5 . .......... ... ... .. ... ... 10
Things to Look For Before the Diplomatic Conference . . . .11

Thisissue of the Earth Negotiations Bulletin© <enb@iisd.org> is written and edited by Laura Ivers <laurai@iisd.org>; Jonathan Krueger <jkrueger@iisd.org>; Lejla Me

<leila@interport.net>; and Tiffany Prather <tprather@iisd.org>. The Editor is Pamela Chasek, Ph.D. <pam@iisd.org> anditfieBMéoaiy Langston James "Kimo" Goree

VI <kimo@iisd.org>. The Sustaining Donors of Bigletin are the Netherlands Ministry for Development Cooperation, the Government of Canada (through CIDA) and the Uni

States (through USAID). General Support for the Bulletin during 1998 is provided by the European Union (DG-XI), the GowdrNorevay and the Ministry for the

Environment in Iceland. ThBulletin can be contacted by e-mail at <enb@iisd.org> and at tel: +1-212-644-0204; fax: +1- 212-644-0206. 1ISD can be contactedthy e-n

<info@iisd.ca> and at 161 Portage Avenue East, 6th Floor, Winnipeg, Manitoba R3B 0Y4, Canada. The opinions expreEseith iNegdetiations Bulletin are those of the

authors and do not necessarily reflect the views of IISD and other funders. Excerpts fEamittiNegotiations Bulletin may be used in non-commercial publications only and

only with appropriate academic citation. For permission to use this material in commercial publications, contact the MditagHig&ronic versions of tHulletin are sent]

to e-mail distribution lists and can be found on the Linkages WWW server at http://www.iisd.ca/linkages/. The satellitagteiganvabove Brussels © 1998 The Living Earth,

Inc. http://livingearth.com. For further information on ways to access, support or dbetaatth Negotiations Bulletin, send e-mail to <enb@iisd.org>.




Monday, 16 March 1998

Vol. 15 No. 4 Page 2

eration with other international organizations (10s) and non-govern-
mental organizations (NGOSs). In May 1995, the 18th session of the
UNEP Governing Council adopted decision 18/12, which authorized
the Executive Director to convene, together with the FAO, an intergov-
ernmental negotiating committee with amandate to prepare aninterna-
tional legally binding instrument for the application of the PIC
procedure. A diplomatic conference for the purpose of adopting and
signing such an instrument wasto be convened in 1997.

INC-1: Thefirst session of the Intergovernmental Negotiating
Committee (INC-1) washeld from 11-15 March 1996 in Brussels.
More than 194 del egates from 80 governments, the European
Commission, anumber of specialized agencies, | GOsand NGOs
participated. INC-1 agreed on the rules of procedure, el ected bureau
members and completed apreliminary review of adraft outlinefor a
futureinstrument. Del egates al so established aworking group to
clarify the groups of chemicalsto beincluded under theinstrument.

INC-2: The second session of theINC, which was held from 16-20
September 1996 in Nairobi, produced a draft text of the Convention
and established a Technical Working Group and aLegal Drafting
Group. Delegates from 86 governments agreed that many facets of the
instrument required further detailed consideration and noted the need
for at least one additional negotiating session before the Convention
could be completed.

FAO COUNCIL: TheFAO Council, at its 111th meeting in
October 1996, discussed the scope of the mandate for the PIC negotia-
tions. Some members expressed support for abroader framework
convention on the management of chemicals, while others suggested
that the relevant provisions of the instrument beformulated in away
that could accommaodate possible future developments. Some
preferred to limit the negotiationsto the PIC procedure only and estab-
lish separate negotiations on persistent organic pollutants (POPS).

L acking consensus, the Council concluded that the present mandate of
the INC would continue and noted that the 19th UNEP Governing
Council would consider theissueaswell.

UNEP GOVERNING COUNCIL: The 19th session of the UNEP
Governing Council, heldin Nairobi from 27 January - 7 February
1997, adopted decision 19/13, concerning, inter alia, the international
instrument for the PIC procedure. The Council: confirmed the present
mandate of the INC; invited the INC to continueitswork, with anam
to conclude negotiationsin 1997; recognized that additional elements
relating to the PIC procedure are under considerationinthe INC; and
requested the Executive Director to convene, in 1997, adiplomatic
conference for the purpose of adopting and signing an international
legally binding instrument.

INC-3: Thethird session of the INC (INC-3) was held from 26-30
May 1997 in Geneva. Over 300 del egates from 102 countries consid-
ered the revised text of draft articlesfor theinstrument, aswell as
proposals from several delegations. A Technical Working Group and
Legal Drafting Group met throughout the week, as did anumber of
contact groups. Considerable debate centered on the scope of the
proposed Convention and many articles remained under discussion.

INC-4: Thefourth session of the INC (INC-4), which was held
from 20-24 October 1997 in Rome, was attended by more than 250
del egates from over 100 countries. INC-4 considered the revised text
of draft articlesfor the instrument, aswell as proposalsby theUSand
European Community in Plenary, a Technical Working Group and a
Legal Drafting Group. Additional negotiating sessionsevery evening
and anumber of contact groups were also convened. Progress on some
"secondary issues' left asmaller number of issuesto beresolved.

REPORT OF INC-5

Chair Maria Celinade Azevedo Rodrigues (Brazil) opened INC-5
on Monday, 9 March 1998, and introduced Mr. A. Sawadogo, Assis-
tant Director-General of the FAO. Speaking on behalf of FAO
Director-General Jacques Diouf, Mr. Sawadogo noted that devel oping
countrieswith limited resources and technical expertise are often

unaware of the dangerslinked to pesticides. He suggested that while
the voluntary PIC procedure has assisted in removing many pesticides
from the market, only abroadly adopted convention could effectively
providefor the protection of human health and the environment.

Speaking on behalf of UNEP Executive Director Klaus Topfer, Jin
Willis, Director of UNEP Chemicals, said that governments have sen
a strong message to conclude negotiations and adopt a strong mect
nism in order to implement the PIC procedure. He added that this
Convention would promote shared responsibility and raise standard:
for global environmental protection.

Jim Currie, Director-General for Environment, Nuclear Safety anc
Civil Protection of the European Commission, spoke on behalf of Rit
Bjerregaard, European Commissioner for the Environment. He high-
lighted the European Community's adoption of Council Regulation
(EEC) No. 2455/92, implementing the FAO International Code of
Conduct and the UNEP London Guidelines in the EC. One of the
tangible outcomes of this regulation, the European Database on Exp
and Import (EDEXIM), was outlined for the delegates.

ORGANIZATIONAL MATTERS

During the opening Plenary, the Chair stressed that, due to time a
financial constraints, this would be the last INC before the Diplomatic
Conference. She noted that UNEP and the FAO would operate the
interim Secretariat and suggested that a draft resolution to this effect
adopted at the Diplomatic Conference.

While it was agreed at INC-4 that the Technical Working Group
would not meet at INC-5, the Legal Drafting Group, chaired by Patric
Széll (UK), met continuously throughout the week, as did a number ¢
contact groups. Work completed by these groups was then formally
considered in Plenary. Discussions were based on the Chair's conso
dated negotiating text, as contained in document UNEP/FAQ/PIC/
INC.5/2. Comments on the draft text were submitted by the US
(UNEP/FAO/PIC/INC.5/CRP.2) and the European Community
(UNEP/FAO/PIC/INC.5/CRP.3). Delegates also had before them:

» anote by the Secretariat regarding arrangements for the Secre-
tariat of the Convention (UNEP/FAQO/PIC/INC.5/INF/1);

» anote on the functioning of the PIC procedure as drafted in the
Chair's consolidated negotiating text (UNEP/FAQ/PIC/INC.5/
INF/2); and

» anote on chemicals in the voluntary PIC procedure (UNEP/FAQ/
PIC/INC.5/INF/3).

The following officers continued to serve as Vice-Chairs at INC-5
Yuri Kundiev (Ukraine), Mohamed El Zarka (Egypt) and William
Murray (Canada). Wang Zhijia (China) served as rapporteur.

NEGOTIATION OF THE DRAFT CONVENTION

Deliberations on the consolidated negotiating text of the Conven-
tion began on Monday, 9 March, in the Legal Drafting Group and
Plenary. The Plenary frequently convened informal contact groups tc
discuss difficult issues and report back with revised text for further
consideration. Plenary considered the draft text of the Convention as
well as draft articles emerging from both the Legal Drafting Group an
the contact groups.

The following is an article-by-article review of the negotiations of
draft Convention at INC-5.

PREAMBLE: On Wednesday, 11 March, delegates in Plenary
discussed the Preamble. The Chair stressed that the purpose of the
Preamble was to reflect what had been left out of the articles. The
Chair's text discusseihter alia: the work undertaken by UNEP and
FAO, as set out in the London Guidelines and the International Code
Conduct; Chapter 19 of Agenda 21; and the particular needs of deve
oping countries. INDONESIA, supported by CANADA, proposed the
inclusion of the title of Chapter 19 of Agenda 21. MOROCCO, on
behalf of the African Group, expressed its concern that transit issues



Voal. 15 No. 4 Page 3

Monday, 16 March 1998

mentioned in thefirst paragraph on the harmful impact on human
health and the environment from certain hazardous chemicalsand
pesticidesin international trade.

On Friday, 13 March, the Plenary discussed anew draft Preamble
text (UNEP/FAO/PIC/INC.5/CRP48). The new text reflected some of
the concerns of delegates regarding tradeissues, transit movements,
impact on consumersand illegal traffic of dangerous chemicals. It
recalled the provisions of the Rio Declaration and included thetitle of
Chapter 19 of Agenda 21, "Environmentally sound management of
toxic chemicals, including prevention of illegal international trafficin
toxic and dangerous products.” In order to maintain brevity in the
Preamble, delegates agreed to del ete other text referring to the objec-
tives of Chapter 19.

Three new paragraphs reflecting lengthy debatesheld in acontact
group on tradeissues wereincorporated into the Preamble. The text
highlighted a mutually supportive rolefor trade and environment poli-
ciesin achieving sustainable devel opment, and emphasized that,
without intending to create a hierarchy between international agree-
ments, therights of Partiesin other agreementswould not in any way
be compromised by this Convention. Thistext was drawn from Article
15(4), Implementation of the Convention, and Article 18, Relationship
with Other Agreements, which were subsequently deleted.
COLOMBIA noted that the paragraphs refl ected significant compro-
mise on the part of all Parties. During Friday’s Plenary session, the EC
expressed its desire to make a short statement for the record,
explaining that its acceptance of the paragraphswould not set a prece-
dent for itsfuture positions on trade and environment issues. In
response, anumber of other delegations, including the US, ARGEN-
TINA, AUSTRALIA, CANADA, SWITZERLAND, NEW
ZEALAND, CHILE and MEXICO, aso wanted to make statements
for therecord. AUSTRALIA remarked that if all countrieswere
permitted to make statements on thisissue, the entire Convention
could fall apart. After brief but intensive negotiationsin the corridor,
delegates agreed that one statement reflecting the concerns of all inter-
ested delegationswould beincluded in the final report of the meeting.

MALAY SIA, supported by anumber of delegates, including
INDIA, the GAMBIA and MOROCCO, proposed that, in addition to
the provision of technical assistance and the promotion of cooperation
as necessary to strengthen capacity for chemical management in devel-
oping countries, technology transfer and financial mechanismsbe
included. CAMEROON noted that countrieswith economiesin transi-
tion should be mentioned aswell. The GAMBIA, on behalf of the
African Group, introduced anew preambular paragraph noting the
specific needs of some developing countriesfor information about
transit movements (UNEP/FAO/PIC/INC.5/CRP.34). CANADA
suggested del etion of theterm "developing” asall countries should be
ableto benefit from such information. Delegates also agreed upon a
referenceto the potentially harmful impact that the trade of certain
hazardous chemicals and pesticides could have on the health of
consumers and workers. The amended text of the Preamblewas
adopted in Plenary on Saturday, 14 March.

ARTICLE 1 (Objective): On Monday, 9 March, delegatesin
Plenary discussed Article 1, which establishes the objective of the
Convention: to promote shared responsibility and cooperative efforts
among Partiesintheinternational trade of certain hazardous chemicals
in order to protect the environment and human, animal and plant life
and health from potential harm and to contribute to environmentally
sound chemicalsuse. It aimsto do thisby promoting and facilitating
informati on exchange about chemical characteristicsand providing for
anational decision-making processon theimport of such chemicals
and by disseminating these decisionsto Parties.

UKRAINE proposed reference to the export aswell asimport of
chemicals. MOROCCO, supported by ETHIOPIA, expressed reserva-
tions concerning responsibility sharing and requested that |anguage on
shared but differentiated responsibility be added. Language stating
"shared responsibility, on the basis of common but differentiated

responsibility" was added in brackets. The US, noting that Parties
would be both importers and exporters, opposed the application of
differentiated responsibility asit would be difficult to implement.

On Friday, the US underlined its preference to exclude reference to
export becauseit would not accurately reflect the objective of the PIC
procedure. The Chair stressed that such language would not be incon-
sistent with the objective. The approved text maintains reference only
to "shared responsibilities’ and includes export.

ARTICLE 2 (Definitions): A chemical isdefinedin Article 2(a)
asasubstance whether by itself or in amixture or preparation whether
manufactured or obtained from nature from the categories of pesticide
(including severely hazardous pesticide formulations) or industrial
chemical. The definition excludes any living organism. In Plenary on
Monday, AUSTRALIA called attention to the potential for dead or
inert genetically modified organisms (GMOs) to fall under the PIC
Convention, and proposed amending the definition by including
GMOsinthelist of itemsnot included in the definition.

On Thursday, 12 March, debate in Plenary focused on whether to
include consumer chemicalsasathird category inthe definitionin
2(a). The EC, the GAMBIA, on behalf of the African Group, EGY PT,
the PHILIPPINES, POLAND, MOROCCO, SLOVENIA, BRAZIL
and IRAN preferred to retain reference to consumer chemicals,
stressing the need for consistency with domestic laws and concern that
the PIC procedure should apply to chemicalsin consumer products.
The Chair noted that banned or severely restricted consumer chemicals
would be dealt with in the Convention whether or not a specific cate-
gory wasincluded. The Secretariat explained theimplications of
retaining or deleting the word consumer in the definition, noting that a
consumer category could have theimpact of narrowing the scope of
the Convention. The Contact Group on Definitions, established on
Monday, proposed two solutions: either include " consumer" withinthe
definition of industrial chemicals, or mention "consumer" at appro-
priate placesin the Preamble and/or in the annexes. EGY PT, supported
by INDONESIA, JAMAICA and the GAMBIA, suggested placing
"including consumer" in parentheses after the definition of industrial
chemicals. The PHILIPPINES, noting that it wished to send astrong
message to chemical producers, agreed to the del etion of "consumer”
aslong asit was mentioned el sewhere. The EC, supported by
MOROCCO, CANADA, INDIA, SWITZERLAND, theUSand
COLOMBIA, proposed reference to the protection of "the health of
consumers and workers' in the Preamble and in Annex |. Thetext as
modified by the EC was approved by the Plenary.

On Article 2(c), the definition of severely restricted chemicals,
EGY PT proposed deleting abracketed sentence referring to chemicals
with reduced health and environmental risks achieved through regula-
tory action, on the groundsthat it had no significance. The EC origi-
nally preferred retaining thetext, but, in the spirit of compromise,
agreed to deleteit. A sentence was added to expand the definition to
include achemical that has been refused approval or been withdrawn
by industry from the domestic market or the domestic approval
process.

Thetitle for the definition of hazardous pesticide formulationin
Article 2(d) was modified to "severely hazardous pesticide formula-
tion." The RUSSIAN FEDERATION, supported by UKRAINE,
expressed concern that pesticides can produce health or environmental
effectsover long periodsof time and that either this should beincluded
inthedefinition or thewords "within ashort period" should be del eted.
The Chair noted that these concernswill be expressed in the final
report but not in the definition. The definition, as approved, reads. "a
chemical formulated for pesticidal usethat produces severe health or
environmental effects observable within ashort period of time after
single or multiple exposures, under conditions of use."



Monday, 16 March 1998

Vol. 15 No. 4 Page 4

During discussions on the definitions of "export" and "import,"
Article 2(f), the GAMBIA recalled the African Group’s previous
requeststo del ete text that would exclude " meretransit operations.”
BENIN underlined theimportance of including transit countriesin the
Convention.

Discussions on the definition of "Party" in 2(g) revolved around
differences between State and regional economic integration organi za-
tion (REIO) Parties. IRAN asked for clarification on the division of
responsibility between the EC and its members. The EC referred to an
explanation of the implementation of PIC inthe EC ascontained in
document UNEP/FAO/PIC/INC.5/CRP4/Rev.1. In Article 2(h), a
REIO isdefined as an organization constituted by sovereign Statesto
which its member States have transferred competence in respect of
matters governed by this Convention.

Article 2(i) definesthe Chemical Review Committee (CRC) asthe
subsidiary body that will perform the functions assigned to that
committee by the Convention, as set out in paragraph 6(b) of Article
19. Definitionsfor banned chemical in 2(b), and export and import in
2(f) were also reviewed by the Legal Drafting Group and the entire
article was approved by the Plenary on 14 March.

ARTICLE 3 (Scope of the Convention): Article 3 detailsthe
chemicalsto which the Convention does and does not apply, such as
narcotic drugs, radioactive materials and wastes. On Monday, during
the discussion of itemslisted under 3(2) to which the Convention does
not apply, EGY PT suggested that precursorsto chemical weapons be
subject to the Convention. ARGENTINA, supported by the USand
SWITZERLAND, proposed removing the reference to precursors.
MALAY SIA, supported by IRAN, the RUSSIAN FEDERATION and
NEW ZEALAND, preferred retaining the reference. On Thursday, the
issue of chemical weaponswasrevisited, and IRAN proposed making
reference to conventions on chemical weapons. NIGERIA opposed
this suggestion. INDONESI A proposed, and the Plenary accepted,
deletion of "and their precursors." The report of the meeting will note
that chemical weapons are covered by other conventions.

NEW ZEALAND and the USrecalled that INC-2 had del eted
reference to pesticide residues and chemical contaminantsfrom
Article 3(2), and stressed that these should be re-introduced. With
respect to Article 3(2)(f), chemicals used asfood additives,
AUSTRALIA, supported by the USand BRAZIL, proposed that there
be explicit mention of the exclusion of pesticide residues onfood. The
EC expressed support for reference to pesticide residues but not chem-
ical contaminants.

Regarding chemicals used for research or personal use, Articles
3(2)(h) and 3(2)(i) respectively, the GAMBIA asked who determines
the quantity of a"reasonable" amount. By way of clarification,
CANADA proposed that thisquantity should be decided in accordance
with the domestic law of the importing country. MOROCCO
suggested replacing "reasonable" with "very limited" quantities. The
Contact Group on Definitions proposed excluding food from the scope
of the Convention. The approved text of Article 3 includesbanned or
severely restricted chemicals and severely hazardous pesticide foru-
mulationsin the scope of the Convention. The Convention does not
apply to narcotic drugs, radioactive materials, wastes, chemical
weapons, pharmaceutical's, chemicalsused asfood additives, food, and
chemicalsfor research and individual use.

ARTICLE 4 (Designated National Authorities): On Monday,
the Plenary considered draft text on the establishment by each Party of
designated national authorities (DNAS) as national points of contact to
administer the functions required by the Convention. The Plenary
adopted the text.

ARTICLE 5 (Banned or Severely Restricted Chemicals): On
Monday, the Plenary considered draft text on Article 5 regarding the
processfor Partiesto notify the Secretariat after adopting afinal regu-
latory action for banned or severely restricted chemicals. With regard
totheinclusion of information required by Annex | in any notification
(Article5(1)), IRAN requested deleting the reference to "where avail -

able," asthiscould provide aloopholefor circumventing implementa-
tion. The Chair explained that the language was aimed at developing
countriesthat might lack particular information required in Annex |
when taking regulatory action, and that under such circumstances, the
Secretariat will still accept the notification.

During discussion of Article 5(5), the number of notificationsand
regions necessary to trigger consideration of achemical inthe PIC
procedure, the EC suggested one notification while ARGENTINA
suggested two. Apart from Article 5(5), about which debate continued,
Article5 was adopted by the Plenary on Monday.

On Thursday, delegatesin Plenary further discussed Article 5(5),
and general support for two notificationsfrom two FAO regionswas
expressed, although alengthy debate ensued asto whether notifica
tionsfrom more than oneregion were necessary. A number of delega-
tions, including the PHILIPPINES, PANAMA, INDONESIA and
ARGENTINA, agreed that one or more notifications warranted atrig-
gering of the PIC procedure, regardless of the number of regions.
Other delegations, including the US, EC, CANADA and INDIA,
proposed that more than one region be required, asthiswould reflect
broader concern and ensure that chemicals put on the PIC list had
support inaglobal context. The Chair noted that too many notifica-
tions could paralyze the process and too few notifications could drown
the CRC and the Secretariat with work. The Plenary agreed that anew
list of "PIC regions," loosely based on the seven FAO regions, should
be drawn up in an annex to the Convention.

On Friday, the Plenary agreed that countries not members of the
FAO would be added to the pre-existing FAO regions based on
geographical distribution. The USrequested that language beincluded
explaining that the INC would develop thelist of PIC regionsto be
used on an interim basis until thefirst Conference of the Parties (COP-
1). Delegatesin Plenary agreed on Saturday that at |east one notifica-
tion from each of two PIC regionswould trigger the consideration of
chemicalsinthe PIC procedure. The notificationswill then be
forwarded to the CRC. Del egates al so decided that the composition of
the PIC regions shall be defined in a decision to be adopted by
consensus at COP-1.

ARTICLE 6 (Severely Hazar dous Pesticide For mulations):
Thisarticle providesa"fast track" for devel oping countries and coun-
trieswith economiesin transition to include hazardous pesticidesin
Annex 11 (chemicals subject to the PIC procedure). On Monday, the
Chair suggested del eting brackets around language focusing the provi-
sionsof thisarticle on developing countries and countrieswith econo-
miesin transition. IRAN, supported by the REPUBL IC of KOREA
and NEPAL, said it did not understand the need to differentiate
between these countries and devel oped countries, and proposed
deleting the text. The REPUBLIC OF KOREA further indicated that
there was no clear or consistent concept for classification of devel-
oping countries and countrieswith economiesin transition. The Chair
explained that devel oped countries often have more capacity to
respond to a hazardous pesticide incident and noted that opening this
provision to every Party would place alarge burden on the Secretariat.
ZIMBABWE, supported by the US, CANADA, AUSTRALIA,
INDONESIA, MEXICO and MALAY SIA, underlined the importance
of retaining the text because of the differences between devel oped and
developing countries. Thetext was approved in Plenary on Saturday
with the reference to the devel oping countries and countries with econ-
omiesintransition.

ARTICLE 7 (Listing of Chemicalsin Annex 111): ThisArticle
callson the CRC to prepare adraft decision guidance document
(DGD) based on information contained in Annex | or IV for each
chemical it has decided to recommend for inclusionin Annex I11, and
to forward thisinformation to the COP, which will then determine
whether to include the chemical in Annex I11. It also requiresthe
Secretariat to communicate information regarding inclusion of a
chemical in Annex |11 to all Parties. In Plenary on Monday, the EC
proposed text requesting that additional information on the uses of the



Voal. 15 No. 4 Page 5

Monday, 16 March 1998

chemical other than that for which the regulatory action appliesbe
included inthe DGD. This proposal wasrejected. On Thursday, the
EC, supported by AUSTRALIA, proposed adding: "DGD should be
based at |east on the information contained in Annex | and include
information on uses of the chemical in a category other than to which
theregulatory measure applies,” to thefirst paragraph of 7(1). The
GAMBI A endorsed the EC proposal, with the addition of "among
other things" at the end of the phrase. On Saturday, the Plenary
approved the article with minor modifications.

ARTICLE 8 (Chemicalsin theVoluntary Procedure): This
provision ensures that chemicalsincluded in the PIC procedure during
theinterim period, from the opening for signature of the Convention to
itsentry into force, will beincorporated into Annex I11 of the Conven-
tion at COP-1. Thearticle was approved by delegatesin Plenary on
Saturday with minor changes.

ARTICLE 9 (Removal of Chemicalsfrom Annex|11): On
Monday, del egates discussed this article that outlines: submission of
new information regarding Annex |11 chemical's; review of achemical
proposed for removal from Annex I11; and notification by the Secre-
tariat that achemical has been removed. CANADA and the PHILIP-
PINES made proposalsto make the process consistent with Articles5
and 6, so asto mirror the voluntary procedure. Thefinal text was
adopted on Saturday with minor modifications.

ARTICLE 10 (Obligationsof Importing Parties): On Monday,
the Plenary addressed thisarticle, which requires Partiesto implement
legidative or administrative measuresto ensure timely decisionson
Articlelll chemical imports, and the submission of decisionson future
imports of Annex |11 chemicalsto the Secretariat. The EC, supported
by ARGENTINA, proposed deletion of Article 10(5), which statesthat
import responses shall apply to the category specified for the chemical
listedin Annex 111. JAPAN opposed the EC proposal and it was|eft for
future discussion. On Friday, the Plenary agreed to retain the original
textinArticle 10(5).

The Chair, supported by EGY PT, proposed deletion of Article
10(6) ensuring that decisionsregarding imports take into account
information in the DGDsin the context of national conditions, onthe
groundsthat it was unnecessary. The Plenary approved the deletion.

The US proposed anew Article 10(12), which statesthat importing
Parties notify the Secretariat when any changeto their regul ations
takes place so asto ensure transparency. On Friday, thelanguage of the
US proposal to add anew Article 10(12) was moved to Article 10(2).

On Saturday, the EC requested specifying anine-month time
period in thetext of 10(3), which addresseswhen the Secretariat
should request aresponse from an importing Party that hasfailed to
submit aresponse. Thefinal approved text reflected these discussions.

ARTICLE 11 (Obligationsof Exporting Parties): The provi-
sions of thisarticle cover: the exporting Party’s domestic obligations;
its obligations towardsimporting Parties; and courses of actionin the
event that theimporting Party failsto respond to notification. On
Monday, the US, supported by AUSTRALIA, proposed that the period
inArticle 11(1) for an exporting Party to takelegislative and adminis-
trative measuresto ensure exportersunder itsjurisdiction comply with
decisionstaken be changed from 120 to 180 days.

Article 11(2) outlines the conditions under which an exporter may
export achemical if no responseisreceived from the importing Party.
These conditionsinclude: if achemical isregistered in theimporting
Party; if achemical has been previously imported; or if explicit
consent is sought and received. CANADA, supported by the EC and
COLOMBIA, noted that reference should be made to obtaining
consent from the designated national authority and not the competent
national authority. INDONESIA and the RUSSIAN FEDERATION
said that reference to acompetent authority could be useful in cases
wherethe body taking decisionswas not the DNA. The Plenary agreed
to changethetext to refer tothe DNA. CANADA, supported by the
US, proposed that the Secretariat beinformedif aresponseismadeto a
request by an exporter. Thetext of Article 11 was approved on

Saturday with minor modifications, including specifying six months
for the start of exporting Party obligations after the Secretariat first
informs Parties of afailureto respond to export notification.

ARTICLE 12 (Export Notification): On Wednesday, delegates
discussed Article 12, which requires exporting Partiesto notify the
DNA of animporting Party when exporting adomestically banned or
severely restricted chemical. On Thursday, del egates agreed to several
paragraphs, including: 12(2), which statesthat export notification shall
be given before thefirst export and subsequently beforethefirst export
in each calendar year; 12(3), which requires an exporting Party to
provide an updated export notification after regulatory action resulting
inamajor change concerning the ban or severerestriction of chemical;
and 12(4), which requires theimporting Party to acknowledge receipt
of export notification and provide a course of action for exporting
countriesthat do not receive acknowledgement. Article 12(6) provides
that export obligations cease when achemical islistedin Annex 111 or
theimporting Party has responded to the Secretariat in accordance
with Article 10 and the Secretariat has distributed the response to
Partiesin accordance with Article 11. Referencesto the provision of
the most recent export notification during subsequent exportsto the
importing Party and the obligation of REIOsto provide notifications
were deleted.

On Saturday, the Plenary considered afinal draft text embodying
these modifications. The US, supported by COLOMBIA, said the
provision allowing the DNA of animporting party to waive export
notification in 12(2) was unclear, and suggested that the Secretariat
notify all Parties of such awaiver. The EC objected to the US modifi-
cation because these chemicalswerenot Annex |11 chemical's, but
rather chemicals banned unilaterally, and so thisinformation would be
of littleinterest to all Parties. Thetext was adopted without the
proposed US modification.

ARTICLE 13 (Information to Accompany Exported Chemi-
cals): On Monday, the Plenary discussed Article 13(1), which encour-
ages the World Customs Organi zation (WCO) to assign specific
Harmonized System customs codes to chemicalslistedin Annex I11
and enumerates the documentation required to bear evidence of acode.
COL OMBI A requested the del etion of the sentence mandating that
Parties require the WCO code on a shipping document and/or label.
NIGERIA, supported by EGY PT, the RUSSIAN FEDERATION and
INDONESIA, favored retaining thisrequirement. The US, supported
by SWITZERLAND, said that such information was useful in a ship-
ping document, but not on alabel, and suggested del eting the reference
toalabel. The Plenary adopted this proposal.

Article 13(4) providesthat theinformation on alabel and safety
data sheet should, asfar as practicable, be provided in one or more of
the official languages of the importing Party. EGY PT objected to the
language "asfar aspracticable." The Chair noted that the language
provided an incentive for the provision of such information, but there
may be circumstances where translation may not be practicable. Dele-
gates adopted the text without amendments.

On Tuesday, the Plenary considered Article 13(2), which proposes
that each Party "should" or "shall" requirethat chemicalseither "listed
in Annex |11 and those banned or severely restricted in their territory”
or those " considered hazardousin accordance withitslegidation" be
subject to no less stringent classification, packaging and labeling
requirementsthan if they wereto be used domestically. The US stated
that the conceptsin this article were moving further away from the
current scope of the PIC procedure. JAPAN, the GAMBIA andthe EC
expressed support that this requirement be compulsory. CANADA,
POLAND and AUSTRALIA supported limiting this requirement to
those chemicalslisted in Annex 111 and those banned or severely
restricted in their territory. The US said that whileit preferred non-
compul sory language, it could approve "shall" if the requirements
werelimited to chemicalsin Annex |11 and those banned or severely
restricted in their territory. The EC suggested using "shall" fulfill the
requirementsfor those chemicalslisted in Annex 111 and those banned



Monday, 16 March 1998

Vol. 15 No. 4 Page 6

or severely restricted in their territory, while Parties " should" meet
those requirements for those chemicals considered hazardous
according to national legislation. The USindicated that it was not
completely opposed to such language, but suggested that thiswasan
attempt to expand the current scope of the PIC Convention. The Chair
suggested the forward-looking but non-binding language "should
encourage.” Regarding the proposal for "no less stringent" require-
ments, the US wanted the exported chemicalsto be" subject to labeling
requirementsthat ensure adequate avail ability of information
pertaining to risks and/or hazards to human health or the environment,
taking into account relevant international standards."

On Friday, the Plenary examined text prepared by a contact group
(UNEP/FAO/PIC/INC.5/CRP50). Article 13(2) and (2bis) included
the EC’s preference for the compul sory language "shall," but limited
applicability tothe US's preferencefor "chemicalslisted in Annex 111
and those banned or severely restricted in their territory.” It also
included the text proposed by the US on labeling requirements. Both
Article 13(2) and 13(2bis) contained bracketed text that expressed a
preference that the exported chemical s be packaged to protect human
health and the environment. Noting that the PIC Conventionisan
instrument for information exchange, JAPAN, supported by
CANADA, theUS, COLOMBIA, the GAMBIA, the EC and
JAMAICA, requested that this principle be maintained by deleting the
bracketed text on packaging in Article 13(2). He proposed that this
provision could bereferred toin the Preambl e, where the contact group
had agreed to insert language referring to packaging and labeling
consi stent with the London Guidelines and the FAO Code of Conduct.

In Article 13(2bis), JAPAN, supported by SOUTH AFRICA,
NIGERIA and MEXICO, requested that "should" be replaced with
"may." TheUS, supported by AUSTRALIA, agreed with the Japanese
proposal, but with the addition of several amendments, including: the
deletion of thelast sentence on packaging to protect human health and
the environment, del eting " considered hazardous in accordance with
legislation in their territory,” and limiting the scopeto chemicals
"subject to environmental or health labeling requirementsinitsterri-
tory." The US said it could accept the amended text with the under-
standing that it does not affect the scope of theinstrument in Article 3.
Thetext, asamended, was accepted.

Article 13(3) reguiresthat a safety data sheet following an interna-
tionally recognized format be sent to the importer for those chemicals
referred toin 13(2). On Friday, the Plenary agreed that safety data
sheetswill only berequired for those chemicalsthat are used for occu-
pational purposes. ARGENTINA asked that it be noted for the record
that the paragraph established an excessive standard for the Conven-
tion. The amended text was then adopted by the Plenary.

ARTICLE 14 (Information exchange): On Tuesday, the Plenary
discussed Article 14, which highlightstypes of information to be
exchanged and information not to be regarded as confidential. SWIT-
ZERLAND and other delegates, including AUSTRALIA and the EC,
noted their preferencefor astrong provision to protect confidential
information.

On Article 14(2), regarding proprietary rights, AUSTRALIA,
supported by EGY PT, proposed del eting the bracketed text protecting
existing proprietary rights, as some countries do not recognize propri-
etary rightswith respect to information.

Article 14(3) listsinformation not to be regarded asconfidential for
the purposes of this Convention. On Article 14(3)(c), CANADA noted
that production and expiration dates of chemicalswere not always
available and suggested providing the dates "where applicable and
available." EGY PT, supported by MOROCCO and IRAN, noted that
an absence of thisinformation would reflect alack of transparency.
EGYPT, in particular, found it hard to accept that amanufacturer does
not have these dates, and noted theimportance of these datesfor devel-
oping countrieswhen importing chemicals. CANADA explained that
inits own domestic laws, manufacturers are not required to provide
these dates to the government.

On Thursday, the Plenary discussed new text on transit movements
introduced by the GAMBIA, on behalf of the African Group (UNEP/
FAO/PIC/INC.5/CRP.34). The EC and PANAMA al so supported this
new text, which proposed that any developing country needing infor-
mation on transit movementsthrough itsterritory convey thisto the
Secretariat. INDIA, with support from ISRAEL, noted that any Party,
not only devel oping countries, should have accessto thisinformation.
PANAMA, with support from CANADA, suggested that the new text
be added as afourth paragraph to Article 14, asit dealswith informa-
tion exchange. The US requested specification of what exactly will be
intransit and the Chair suggested "chemicals covered by this Conven-
tion." The new text on transit movementswas approved.

On Friday, the Plenary examined revised text for Article 14
(UNEP/FAO/PIC/INC.5/CRP46), after acontact group had dealt with
the confidentiality issue at length. The EU proposed, and the Plenary
approved, additional text, 14(1)(c), to insure that information
regarding why one or more uses of the chemical is substantially
restricted be provided to the Secretariat and made available to the
Parties, as appropriate.

On 14(2), compromise was reached on the protection of confiden-
tial information, taking into account the broad range of freedom of
information legislation in different countries. The new text proposed
that Parties shall protect any confidential information mutually agreed
upon between them.

On 14(3)(c), revised text submitted by the contact group deleted
the production and expiration dates from thelist of information not to
be regarded as confidential. EGY PT expressed its strong opposition to
thisdeletion, again reiterating its belief that thisinformation should
not be regarded as confidential. INDIA also opposed the deletion,
noting that the dumping of expired chemicalshasbeen aproblemin
developing countries. Asaresult, the accepted text statesthat the expi-
ration date is not to be regarded as confidential and anew paragraph
14(4) statesthat the production dateis"normally not considered to be
confidential ."

Article 14(5) wasthen added to include the African Group’s
proposal ontransit movements. The article was adopted by the Plenary
on Friday.

ARTICLE 15 (Implementation of the Convention): On
Tuesday, the Plenary discussed Article 15, which stressesthat Parties
shall, inter alia: take necessary measuresto strengthen their national
infrastructures; ensurethat the public has appropriate accessto infor-
mation on chemical handling and accident management; and agreeto
cooperate, where appropriate, through international organizations, in
the implementation of the Convention.

On Article 15(1)(b), the encouragement of initiatives by industry,
the RUSSIAN FEDERATION, supported by EGY PT, expressed
concernthat industry take positiveinitiatives. The Chair suggested that
suchinitiatives could be "to promote chemical safety."

On Friday, the bracketed text on 15(4), insuring that measures
taken in this Convention do not create unnecessary trade obstacles,
was deleted and incorporated into the Preamble. Article 15(5),
ensuring that movements of chemicals between member States of an
REIO not be subject to this Convention, was deleted. Article 15,
reflecting these changes, was approved.

ARTICLE 16 (Technical Assistance): On Tuesday, the Plenary
discussed Article 16, which ensures cooperation in the promotion of
technical assistanceto devel oping countries and countrieswith econo-
miesintransition. ETHIOPIA, MOROCCO, IRAN and MALAY SIA
stressed theimportance of strengthening theinfrastructure of devel-
oping countries to enabl eimplementation of the Convention, and
suggested specifying the technical and financial needs of developing
countries. The Chair pointed out that all needs areimplicit in thetext.
Article 16 wasthen approved.



Vol. 15 No. 4 Page 7

Monday, 16 March 1998

ARTICLE 17 (Compliance): Thisarticle addressesthe devel op-
ment of a procedure and mechanism for determination and treatment
of non-compliance. On Tuesday, CANADA recalled the two possibili-
tiesdiscussed at INC-4: either refer to aclear commitment to develop a
procedure or leave it to the COP to decide whether to have such a
procedure. Preferring aclear commitment, CANADA, supported by
ISRAEL, SWITZERLAND and IRAN, proposed deleting the words
"consider the need to" in order to make a clear commitment to develop
such procedures. Thetext was approved with this modification.

ARTICLE 18 (Relationship with other agreements): Article 18
was deleted after intensive discussions on "trade and environment"
issuesin acontact group. Language regarding the rel ati onship between
the PIC Convention and other international agreementsisnow
contained in the Preamble.

ARTICLE 19 (Conferenceof theParties): Thisarticle estab-
lishesthe COR  itsfirst meeting, the establishment of rules of proce-
dure and financial rules, implementation of the Convention and the
admission and participation of observers. Delegates discussed this
articlein Plenary on Monday. On Article 19(6), participation of
observers, the Chair proposed that observers be allowed unless"at
least onethird of the Parties present object.” CHINA said that no NGO
of any Party should participate without that Party’s consent. IRAN said
it had problemswith the text and proposed its del etion. The Chair said
that adecision to exclude observers would beinappropriate for the
INC and recommended |eaving this decision to COP. GERMANY,
supported by SWITZERLAND, noted that allowing observers attracts
new Parties, and highlighted the benefits of observersinthe Montrea
Protocol process. Delegatesin Plenary then adopted the Chair's
suggestion to usethe one-third rule.

The US drew attention to similarities between theUSand EC
proposalsfor Article 19(5)(b), which detail s the number, geographical
representation and expertise for the composition of the subsidiary
body for the implementation of Articles5, 6, 7 and 9, to be established
by the COP. On Thursday, the Chair, reporting on thework of the Legal
Drafting Group, noted that the body would bereferred to as the Chem-
ical Review Committee (CRC). The Plenary then considered the US
proposal (UNEP/FAO/PIC/INC.5/CRP.19), which suggested that the
body: consist of 21 members; be geographically balanced; and be
comprised of experts having direct and substantial experience
regarding the regulation of chemicals. ZIMBABWE stated that the
CRC should include al Parties and be acommittee of Parties. Severa
delegations, including the EC and MOROCCO, suggested that the
body comprise more than 21 members so asto reflect abetter
geographic balance. INDIA, supported by IRAN, ARGENTINA and
ISRAEL, suggested that discussion on thisissue would be more
fruitful at alater date. Several delegations, including the GAMBIA,
the EC, NEW ZEALAND and CANADA, suggested that areference
beincluded to ensureamultidisciplinary character for the CRC.

On Friday, discussions about the CRC revolved around voting
proceduresin the event of failureto achieve consensus. The Chair
proposed and the Plenary accepted the rule of atwo-thirds majority
vote of Parties present. On Article 19(6), regarding observers, CHINA
proposed language stating that "any national body or NGO of a
contracting Party shall not be admitted if that contracting Party
objects." COLOMBIA noted that the UN system has amechanism for
registering NGOs and that, as ademocracy, it would be very difficult
for it to keep NGOsfrom participating. The EC, supported by
CANADA, objected to the Chinese proposal on the groundsthat the
international nature of many NGOswould makeit difficult toimple-
ment. CAMEROON noted that the Rio Declaration, which isreferred
toin the Preambl e of the Convention, requeststhat decision making
involve NGOs. CHINA withdrew its proposal and requested that its
concern be duly noted in the report of the meeting.

Thefinal text adopted in Plenary on Saturday included anew
Article 19(4) requiring the COP to adopt rules of procedure and finan-
cia rulesat itsfirst meeting. It also left the COP to determine who

would participatein the CRC and therules of procedure for the partici-
pation of NGOs and industry. The US, supported by the EC, said it
would like astrong statement that the work of the CRC should be open
to observers.

ARTICLE 20 (Secretariat): On Tuesday, the Plenary discussed
the establishment of the Secretariat and itsfunctions, which shall be
performed jointly by the Executive Director of UNEP and the
Director-General of FAO. The Plenary adopted the text, which states,
inter alia: that the Secretariat facilitate assistance to the Parties; that it
coordinate with secretariats of other relevant international bodies; and
that it service the COP and subsidiary bodies, asrequired.

ARTICLE 21 (Settlement of Disputes): On Tuesday, the Plenary
began discussion of the settlement of disputes, which had not been
addressed since INC-2. The Plenary agreed to establish an open-ended
contact group at the request of CANADA,, which had submitted alter-
nativetext. On Thursday, the Plenary returned to thisarticle.

Article 21(2) providesthat, with respect to any dispute, aParty that
isnot aREIO "may" recognize arbitration in accordance with proce-
dures adopted by the COP, or submission to the International Court of
Justice (1CJ), or both, asameans of dispute settlement, which becomes
compul sory once accepted by both Parties. Article 21(3) providesthat
aParty thatisaREIO "may" recognize arbitration, but not submission
tothe ICJ, asameans of dispute settlement, which becomes compul -
sory once accepted by both Parties. It was noted that whilethefirst five
paragraphs of Article 21 mirror the dispute settlement procedures of
other recent multilateral environmental agreements (MEAS), the sixth
paragraph, inspired by the Canadian submission, attemptsto go
further.

The original Canadian submission provided that Parties may agree
to submit disputesto aconciliation commission and, if thedisputeis
not resolved, to request that the dispute be referred to either binding
arbitration or the |CJ. However, the text submitted by the contact
group provided for theinverse: resort to aconciliation commission
only after Partiesto adispute do not accept either arbitration or juris-
diction of thelCJ. A conciliation commission shall render areport with
recommendations, thus making its decisions non-binding. Additional
proceduresrel ating to a conciliation commission shall beincluded in
an annex to be adopted by the COP as soon as practicable.

IRAN, supported by PANAMA, MOROCCO and EGY PT, noted
that although aconciliation commissionisthefina arbiter, itsnon-
binding "soft law" recommendationswere aweak attempt to settle
disputes. IRAN also objected to REIOs, which cannot resort tothe | CJ,
representing theinterests of its member States. He further noted that
for both States and REIOs, resort to arbitration and the ICIwas a
process that was not compulsory. MOROCCO, supported by EGY PT,
suggested that if a conciliation commission cannot make binding deci-
sionsthen its recommendations should be referred to the COP for
consideration.

CANADA said that the compromise text wasthe best that could be
achieved after five negotiating sessions and, in the face of pressing
time constraints, more time would be needed to devel op what was
admittedly anew step in MEAs. The compromisetext constituted a
package with three components. First, the following statement is
recorded in the report of the meeting: "A number of representatives
expressed concern regarding the failureto include in the Convention a
dispute-settlement procedure that was mandatory and resulted in a
legally binding and final outcome. Those del egations expressed a
strong interest in continuing discussions on thoseissues." Second, the
following recommendation to the Diplomatic Conferencewill bein
the report of the meeting: "The INC recommendsthat the Diplomatic
Conference consider the need to establish aworking group for the
purpose of devel oping the annex containing the proceduresfor the
conciliation commissionreferred to in Article 21, paragraph 6, for the
purpose of achieving effective disputeresolution.” Third, amodifica-
tionto Article 21(6) that the proceduresrelating to the conciliation
commission be adopted by the COP, "no later than COP-2." IRAN also



Monday, 16 March 1998

Vol. 15 No. 4 Page 8

requested the inclusion of an additional statement in the report of the
meeting: " One del egation expressed the view that nothing in this
Convention, in particular Article 21, should be considered a precedent
for thefuture." The text was adopted on Saturday.

ARTICLE 22 (Amendmentsto the Convention): On Tuesday,
the Plenary discussed amendments to the Convention, which shall be
adopted at ameeting of the COP. Article 22 statesthat Parties shall
attempt to reach agreement on a proposed amendment by consensus,
but if such effortsfail theamendment shall be adopted by athree-
fourths majority of the COP. IRAN asked for clearer language
regarding the type of "meeting". The Chair explained that thewording
reflected accepted procedure and was intended to afford the COP
discretion in determining whether ameetingisto be held asaregular
session or an extraordinary session convened for aspecial purpose.
GERMANY further explained that thereis no difference between the
competence of the Partiesat aregular or extraordinary session and that
the decisions of each are accorded equal weight. The Plenary adopted
Article 22 without amendment.

ARTICLE 23 (Adoption and amendment of annexes): Article
23 explainsthe proceduresfor adopting and amending annexes.
Except for amendmentsto Annex |11 (Chemicals subject to the Prior
Informed Consent Procedure), the proposal and adoption of annexes
and amendments would be subject to the same procedures put forth in
Article 22 (Amendmentsto the Convention).

On Tuesday, the Plenary discussed Article 23(5)(a), procedures
taking by aParty on the adoption of additional annexesand lifted the
brackets on thetext. The US noted that notifying the depository if itis
unableto accept an additional annex is standard procedurein other
conventionsfor entering annexesinto force.

Article 23(5)(b) outlinesthe voting procedure for amendmentsto
Annex I11. Thetext called upon the COP to take its decisions by
consensus and included bracketed text allowing for athree-fourths
majority voteif all attemptsat consensusfail. The EC, supported by
the US, proposed del eting the bracketed text for amajority vote. The
UKRAINE noted that Annex |11 should only be voted on by consensus
sinceit isbased on scientific data. INDIA, supported by the
REPUBLIC OF KOREA, opposed decisions by consensusand
requested adoption by athree-fourths majority, noting that aconsensus
vote would hurt devel oping countries. MOROCCO, supported by
JAMAICA, suggested consensus with an option for majority rule, if
consensusfails. Text was approved to insure that the COP shall make
decisions by consensus.

On Friday, the Plenary revisited Article 23, continuing to focus on
23(5)(b), with aslightly amended text (UNEP/FAO/PIC/INC.5/
CRP.28/REV.1). Again, debate revolved around the consensus and
majority ruleissue, and IRAN and CHINA voiced their concern that
procedures for amending annexes be the same as proceduresfor
amending text. ARGENTINA and INDIA, among others, felt that
consensus was an unfair mechanism, but could accept it asacompro-
mise. IRAN, in particular, noted its discontent, stressing thet if one
country dissentsin the decision to add achemical to Annex |11, then
that chemical would not be added. He felt that taking decisions based
on consensusfor Annex |11 would place greater importance onit than
therest of the Convention. Thearticle, asapproved on Friday, provides
different standardsfor amendmentsto Annex 111 from al other amend-
ments, including those to the Convention and all other annexes.

ARTICLE 24 (Right to Vote): Thisarticle detailsthevoting
rights of Partiesand REIOs. JAMAICA requested clarification onthe
voting rights of REIOsin situationswhere a Party that isamember of a
REIO wishesto vote differently from the other Parties of that region.
Mr. Moore, FAO Legal Counsel, explained that under the arrangement
of "mixed competence," the bundle of rights belonging to Partiesthat
are members of a REIO always stay the same, so when at |east one
member of a REIO wishesto exercisesitsvote, the REIO can not exer-
ciseitsvote. In short, it iseither the REIO or the member Statesthat
exercisethe bundleof rights, and thereisnoway the two can be mixed.

IRAN asked if Parties need to be present to have their voteincludedin
aregional group vote. Mr. Moore responded that Parties need not be
present to beincluded in a REIO vote. The text was accepted by the
Plenary.

ARTICLE 25 (Signature): Article 25 setsthe location and dates
for States and REIOsto sign the Convention. JAMAICA askedif this
was the appropriate place to determine the period of timefor the
Convention to be open for signature. The Chair noted that therewas no
truetimelimit. Mr. Moore explained that after the period of time for
signature ends, the Convention remains open for accession. The
GAMBIA asked for clarification on the relationship between an REIO
signature and its member States' signatures. Mr. Moore clarified that if
all member States of an REI O ratify the Convention and the REIO
itself ratifies, the number of ratifications counted are only equal to the
number of States, not to the number of States plus onefor the REIO.
The structure of the article was accepted with acknowledgement that
datesfor opening the Convention for signature would befilled in later.

On Friday, delegatesin Plenary agreed that the Diplomatic Confer-
encewill be held in Rotterdam with the date to be determined between
the Secretariat and the Government of the Netherlands. The Article
was approved in Plenary on Saturday.

ARTICLE 26 (Ratification, Acceptance, Approval or Acces-
sion): On Tuesday, the Plenary discussed Article 26, which statesthat
the Convention isopen for accession by Statesand REIOsonceitis
closed for signature. Any REIO that becomes a Party to the Conven-
tion without any of its member States being Parties shall be bound by
its obligations under the Convention, and if any of an REIO’s member
States are al so Parties, the REIO and the member State(s) shall not be
entitled to exerciserights under the Convention concurrently. After
agreeing that the other provisionsin the article were standard, Article
26 was adopted.

ARTICLE 27 (Entry I nto For ce): On Tuesday, the Plenary
adopted this article, which states that the Convention will enter into
force 90 days after the recei pt of 50 instruments of ratification, accep-
tance, approval or accession.

ARTICLE 28 (Reservations): On Tuesday, the Plenary discussed
thisarticle, which statesthat no reservations may be madeto the
Convention. Every del egation except theUSand JAPAN agreed to this
text. The US said that reservations should be determined on a conven-
tion-by-convention basis, and since PIC would be atechnical treaty,
reservations should be permitted. SENEGAL and MOROCCO noted
that reservations run counter to the basic principle of consensusin the
Convention. MOROCCO also noted that, in recent years, the use of
reservationsininternational conventions haswaned becauseit hinders
proper implementation. While the US and JAPAN reserved their posi-
tion until they could examine the Convention text in itsentirety, the
Plenary adopted Article 28 on Friday.

ARTICLE 29 (Withdrawal): Thisarticle, containing standard
language regarding withdrawal from the Convention, was approved on
Tuesday.

ARTICLE 30 (Depositary): On Tuesday, del egates adopted this
article, which providesthat the UN Secretary-General shall bethe
Depositary of the Convention.

ARTICLE 31 (Authentic Texts): On Tuesday, delegates adopted
thisarticle which providesthat the original s of the Conventioninthe
six official UN languages are equally authentic, and shall be deposited
with the UN Secretary-General, without amendment.

ANNEX I (Information required for notificationsmade
pursuant to Article 5): On Tuesday, delegates discussed Annex I,
which outlinestheinformation required in notifications, including:
chemical properties, identifications and uses, and information about
final regulatory actions. For the information required regarding final
regulatory actionsin paragraph two, the USand AUSTRALIA
expressed concern about the use of "risk/hazard" evaluations.
AUSTRALIA preferred theterm "risk evaluation” or "risk and expo-



Earth NegotiationsBulletin
Vol.15No.4Page9 W Monday, 16 March 1998

sureevaluation." CHILE, MOROCCO and the RUSSIAN FEDERA - dient(s);
TION expressed concern about the proposed changes. CANADA « the relative amount of active ingredient(s) in the formulation and
noted that the purpose of thisannex wasto provideinformation and not the type of formulation;

to makejudgement about itsquality. AUSTRALIA proposed reference

to "risk and/or hazard evaluations." Thisproposa was accepted by a

number of delegations, including INDIA, POLAND, INDONESIA a description of incidents related to the problem; and

and the EC. On Friday, the Plenary revisited the bracketed text in any regulatory, administrative or other response measure to be

2(3a)(iv), and agreed to theterm "risk or hazard evaluation" and the taken.

removal of brackets around the subparagraph. Part 2 provides that the Secretariat, pursuant to Article 6(3), shall
Oninformation about final regulatory actions and the quantitiesof ~ collect relevant information relating to the formulation suclinge,

chemical produced and traded in 2(b)(iii), the US proposed reference  alia:

to"high, medium or low relative quantities' becausemoreprecisedata  * the physico-chemical, toxicological and ecotoxicological

trade names and names of producers;
common and recognized patterns of use;

would not normally be givento abody like a Secretariat. A number of properties of the formulation;

delegations, including INDIA and MOROCCO, supportedtheoriginal ¢ the existence of handling or applicator restrictions in other States;
wording referring to an "estimation of quantities." AUSTRALIA « information on incidents related to the formulation in other States;
proposed that quantities could belisted as"significant or not." TheUS < information submitted by other Parties, IGOs, NGOs and other
indicated that they could accept that proposal. sources;

On Friday, the Plenary also agreed to amendments proposed by the ~ * risk and/or hazard evaluations; o _
ECin 2(v) and 2(vi), reasonsfor thefinal regul atory action and risks « indications of the extent of use of the pesticide formulation;

presented by the chemical relevant to human health and the environ- « other formulations of the pesticide in question, and incidents

ment. |t was agreed that in both subparagraphs human health should relating to these formulations; and

include "the health of consumers and workers." On Saturday, the + alternative pest-control practices.

Plenary adopted the text, subject to minor amendments. Part 3, criteria for listing of hazardous pesticide formulations in
ANNEX II (Criteriafor theinclusion of banned or severely Annex Ill, provides that the CRC, in reviewing proposals forwarded

restricted chemicalsin Annex 111): On Tuesday, the Plenary by the Secretariat pursuant to Article 6(5), shall take into account:

discussed Annex |1, criteriafor theinclusion of banned or severely . the_z reliability of the evidence indipating that the use of the formu-

restricted chemicalsin Annex I11 (Chemicals subject to the PIC proce- lation resulted in the reported incidents; o

dure). Criteriaspecify, inter alia, that the final regulatory action for * the relevance of such incidents to other States with similar

inclusionin Annex 111 has been taken to protect human health or the climates, conditions and patternsofuse; = .

environment, and as aconsequence of an evaluation based onareview  * the existence of handling or applicator restrictions involving

of scientific data. tech_nolqu or techniq_ues thqt may not reasonably or widely be
On Annex 11(b), the type of eval uation to be taken, either "risk" or applied in States lacking the infrastructure; _

"risk/hazard" wasthe subject of much debate. AUSTRALIA, andother ¢ the significance of reported effects in relation to the quantity used;

delegations, including the UKRAINE, JAPAN and CANADA, and _ , _ ,

proposed del eting hazard and only specifying risk evaluation, noting « the fact that intentional misuse is not an adequate reason for

that hazard and exposure would beimplied. RUSSIA, supported by including a formulation in Annex IIl. o

MOROCCO and EGY PT, preferred including "risk and/or hazard ANNEX V (Information Requirementsfor Export Natification

evauation." JAMAICA suggested deleting "or" for fear of excluding ~ MadePursuant to Article 12): Annex V specifies information
risk, but supported keeping hazard. Thefinal compromise, basedona  required in export notifications, includinigter alia: name and

proposal submitted by acontact group (UNEP/FAQ/PIC/INC.5/ address of exporting and importing DNAs; expected date of export; tt
CRP37/Rev.1), included only "risk evaluation," with aqudificationto name of the chemical; and a summary of Annex I information. It also
beincluded in astatement indicating that arisk evaluation includes requires exporting Parties to provide further information specified in
evidence of hazard. Annex | as requested by the importing Party. On Wednesday, a revis
ANNEX |11 (Chemicals Subject tothe PIC Procedure): On Annex V submitted by the Legal Drafting Group (UNEP/FAO/PIC/
Wednesday, del egates adopted the list of 27 chemicalsin Annex I, INC.5/CRP.9) was considered in Plenary. JAPAN and the US noted
with thefollowing anendments: reservations over the deletion of text referring to treating such infor-

« athree-column chart delineating the chemical identity, CAS mation as confidential. Regarding the provision of information speci-
number(s), and category on which inclusion in the annex is basdtpd in Annex |, CANADA proposed that only a summary of this
- the listing of three severely hazardous pesticide formulations, information be required for export notifications because more detaile

subjecting chemicals that "exceed" a specified concentration (ijormation would be available from the Secretariat or the exporter

g/l (SL) formulation for both Monocrotophos and Methami- directly. The GAMBIA noted that it could accept the Canadian
dophos, and 1000 g/l (SL) formulation of Phosphamidon) to the proposal if explicit reference to obtaining the information from the
PIC procedure; and Secretariat was added.

« the creation of one category for pesticides and another for severelyThe EC suggested, but the Plenary rejected, a proposal that a
hazardous pesticide formulations in order to differentiate betwe#@ceipt notice for the export notification be included in Annex V in
the two types of chemicals. order to know that the notification reached the importing Party. On
SWITZERLAND requested that a note be added to the report thegurday, the Annex was adopted with minor changes including the

complete list of chemicals and CAS numbers will be maintained by ggétion of Annex V(1)(e), which required the inclusion of precau-

Secretariat. tionary measures to reduce exposure to and emission of the chemic:
ANNEX 1V (Information and Criteriafor Inclusion of Severely as itis adequately covered in Annex | and in the terms of Annex

Hazar dous Pesticide Formulationsin Annex 111): On Wednesday, vA)(©).

the Plenary, after minor amendments, adopted Annex IV, whichis c| 0SING PLENARY

divided into three parts. Part 1, documentation required from a On Saturday evening, 14 March, the Chair convened the final

proposing Party, provides that proposals pursuant to Article 6(1) sh&bnary of the Intergovernmental Negotiating Committee and intro-

include,inter alia: " . .. duced the draft resolution on interim arrangements and the Diplomat
 the name of the hazardous pesticide formulation and active ingre-



Monday, 16 March 1998

Voal. 15 No. 4 Page 10

Conference. (UNEP/FAO/PIC/INC.5/CRP.20). Thisresolution
outlines: the creation of the"interim PIC procedure" by changing the
voluntary procedureto bring it into line with the Convention; the need
to establish an interim subsidiary body; and the call to States and
REIOsto sign and ratify the Convention so asto bring it into force as
soon as possible. She further proposed, and the Plenary approved, that
the Convention be known as " The Rotterdam Convention on the Prior
Informed Consent Procedure for Certain Hazardous Chemicalsand
Pesticidesin International Trade," since the Diplomatic Convention
will bein Rotterdam. The Chair then invited comments on the draft
final report, as contained in document UNEP/FAO/PIC/INC.5/L.1.

The EC, supported by PANAMA, proposed that a statement be
included in the report noting that several del egations observed that the
current drafting of Article 3 had noimplicationsfor the scope or effect
of theprovisionslaid downin Articles 13(3) and 14(1).

ARGENTINA asked that some wording be put in the report
expressing its concern about the lack of referenceto liability and
compensation and that these i ssues should berevisited.

MOROCCO noted that it would have preferred amandatory
dispute settlement procedure and suggested that Article 21 should not
be seen as setting a precedent for any future agreements on environ-
mental matters.

The GAMBIA, on behalf of the African Group, thanked the Chair,
organizers, sponsors and the Secretariat, and remarked that a number
of issues of importance to them had not been translated into legal
language, and that this should be discussed at the Diplomatic Confer-
ence. Several other delegations, including the EC, IRAN, ARGEN-
TINA and the PHILIPPINES al so thanked the Chair for her hard work
during theINC.

The US noted that the process|eading to the Convention had been a
"long road" and suggested that a credible job had been done of
presenting to the Diplomatic Conference an agreement that govern-
ments should sign.

SWITZERLAND reminded the Plenary of the importance of the
PIC Convention to their country and offered to host thefirst COPin
Geneva. He al so recalled that they offered to host the chemical sdivi-
sion of the Permanent Secretariat, with the pesticides division to be
located in Rome.

The Chair thanked all those who had been involved in the negoti-
ating processfor the Convention. Del egates then adopted the Draft
Report of INC-5. Thetext of the draft Convention will be appended to
thereport for consideration and signing at the Diplomatic Conference
to be held in September 1998, in Rotterdam, The Netherlands. The
meeting was adjourned at 8:45 pm.

A BRIEF ANALYSISOF INC-5

Almost two yearsto the day after thefirst INC, adraft PIC Conven-
tionwascompletedin Brussels. Delegates expressed relief and varying
degrees of satisfaction at the completion of adifficult and compressed
negotiating process. The length of the negotiating sessions and the
small but significant number of outstanding issues|eft for resolution at
INC-5 suggested that the original goal of completing the Convention
by the end of 1997 had been somewhat unrealistic. It also underlined
the difficulties of the seemingly simpletask of transforming an
existing voluntary procedureinto alegally binding agreement. Never-
theless, delegates have now fulfilled their mandate and their Ministers
will gather in Rotterdam later thisyear for the Diplomatic Conference
and signing ceremony. L ooking back over the process of negotiating
the PIC Convention, aswell aslooking forward to the challenges of the
future, anumber of issueswarrant further discussion.

TO BRUSSELSAND BACK AGAIN: Morethan afew dele-
gatesremarked on the suitability of completing the PIC negotiationsin
Brussels, the same city where they began two years ago. L ess auspi-
cious, however, wasthe fact that some fundamental controversiesthat
had not been untangled since INC-1 returned to Brusselsfor resolu-

tion. On the underlying issue of whether the Convention should be an
expanded framework for chemical management or simply alegally
binding version of the existing voluntary procedure, the language of
the agreement would indicate that this Convention does not signifi-
cantly exceed the scope of the existing voluntary procedure. However,
according to one devel oped country del egate, while expressing general
satisfaction with thetext, the Convention was"still not asnarrow aswe
would haveliked." Attemptsto create awider international chemical
management framework, however, will not end with the PIC Conven-
tion, and some members of theinternational community are sureto
keep thisidea under discussion.

Therewas al so the question of increasing devel oping country
capacity to fulfill thelegidative and administrative requirements of the
PIC procedure. While many referenceswere madeto the fact that this
Convention wasto benefit devel oping countries, the main protagonists
were OECD countries. Moreover, devel oping country delegations
often pointed out that there waslittle or no provision for technology
transfer and additional resourcesthat would allow them to truly benefit
from the better information that the PIC procedure was supposed to
givethem. According to at least one devel oping country delegate, the
current text "did not really meet their needs" but was only "the best
they could get."

The question of the relationshi p between the Convention and the
WTO was dealt with somewhat conclusively at INC-5, although the
contact group charged with finalizing theissue spent long hours
creating what wastermed a " delicately balanced" text inwhich
language rel ating to the rel ationship between this Convention and
other existing international agreementswas moved from the body of
the Convention to the Preambl e. In fact, the compromise almost unrav-
eled at the end of the week when one del egation began to make a
formal statement that acceptance of thislanguage would not set any
precedent for them regarding other trade and environment discussions.
This provoked many other del egationsto register similar statements.
However, intensive discussionsin the corridors resolved one of the
tensest moments of INC-5 and several delegationswill now stateinthe
meeting report that the Preamblewill not "prejudge their respective
positionsin other international forums and negotiations addressing
issuesrelated to environment and trade.” NGOs expressed satisfaction
with location of thislanguagein the Preamble, perceiving thisasless
"threatening" than if it were contained in the body of the Convention.
On thewhole, however, most del egates seemed to believe that nothing
inthe Convention could be contrived as being inconsistent with the
WTO. The need toinclude such language was based on thefear that the
Convention might be used as an excuse to take WTO-inconsistent
measures or that the perception of ahierarchy between different agree-
ments might be created.

RATIFICATION, ACCEPTANCE AND APPROVAL?: The
next step for the PIC Convention issignature and ratification. There
were no indications during the INC process that the Convention will
have any trouble receiving the requisite number of signatures and rati-
ficationsin order to enter into force. Neverthel ess, several important
issueswill likely remain under active consideration in the period
between the signing of the Convention and thefirst Conference of the
Parties. First, regarding arrangementsfor the financing of the Conven-
tion, members of the African Group were especially concerned that
explicit direction regarding financing had been deferred to thefirst
COP. While proposal sfor the establishment of avoluntary fund for the
interim period were suggested in Brussels, the actual financial arrange-
ments remai n subject to avail able resources and more secure sources
of funding will haveto befound.

Second, theissue of dispute resolution provoked substantial debate
at INC-5. A number of delegations questioned the adequacy of a
legally binding agreement that failsto provide recourse to abody that
can render binding decisionsfor the settlement of disputes. Sincethe
proposed conciliation commission will only render recommendations
that are non-binding, and any Party may decline the submission of



Voal. 15 No. 4 Page 11

Monday, 16 March 1998

disputesto arbitration or the ICJ, it isfeared that Parties may attempt to
circumvent their obligations under the Convention. However, other
delegations noted that the strength of aconciliation commission isnot
about whether it can offer binding or non-binding decisions. Experi-
ence has shown that such bodies have been extremely effectivein
resolving disputesin other areas of international law, such asintrade
and arms control, and wasintroduced into these negotiations primarily
asan attempt to expand options for dispute settlement in amultilateral
environmental agreements (MEA). While several del egations appreci-
ated this attempt to pursue new ideas; they pointed out that the tradi-
tion of MEA s has been less about assigning fault and more about
strengthening compliance. Until MEAs adopt amore "hard law"
approach, Partiesmay haveless of anincentiveto fulfill their commit-
ments under these agreements.

Third, countrieswill need to addressthe status of PIC chemicalsin
thevoluntary procedure not currently in Annex 111. Regardless of the
length of time before the Convention entersinto force, theinterim PIC
procedure will remain an important bridge between the voluntary and
legally binding procedures and discussionswill continueto ensure that
thetransition isas smooth as possible. Also, theterms of reference and
functioning of the new subsidiary body for scientific and technical
advice, to be known asthe Chemical Review Committee, will needto
berefined and tested. Such bodies have becomeintegral to the work-
ings of other agreements, such asthe Convention on Biological Diver-
sity and the Framework Convention on Climate Change, and may well
play asimilar role with respect to the PIC Convention.

THE FUTURE OF INTERNATIONAL CHEMICALS
MANAGEMENT: Completion of the PIC Conventionisonly thefirst
of anumber of efforts by theinternational community to address
chemical management issues. With theink barely dry on the Conven-
tion, countrieswill meetin Montreal in late Juneto begin negotiations
on alegally binding instrument to reduce the risksto human health and
the environment from alist of twelve persistent organic pollutants
(POPs). These negotiations arelikely to be more difficult because,
unlike PIC, they will be discussing the possibility of eliminating the
production of anumber of particularly dangerous chemicals.

Moreimmediately, however, anumber of observers have pointed
toissuesregarding theimplementation of the PIC Convention asbeing
crucial toitssuccess. In addition to outstanding questions regarding
financia arrangements, Partiesto the Convention will face other prob-
lemssimilar to thosein other MEAS. For example, treatment of non-
compliance hasrecently become acentral issuein MEAs. Whilea
clear dispute-settlement procedure may go someway to helping
Parties deal with conflict, the model of the Montreal Protocol to
employ a"softly, softly" approach in dealing with Parties deemedin
non-compliance may also be an option for the PIC Convention. Also,
developing countries, and the African Group in particul ar, expressed
concern about the subject of illegal trafficin hazardous chemicals. The
degree to which this activity takes place, and how the Conference of
the Parties decidesto deal withit, areimportant but unresolved ques-
tions. Moreover, attempts by devel oping countriesto include provi-
sionsfor liahility and compensation were fended off during the INC
process but will likely resurface at thefirst COP and perhaps asearly
asthe Diplomatic Conference.

A Conventionfor Prior Informed Consent regarding hazardous
chemicalsininternational tradeisasmall but significant steptowardsa
more comprehensive and sustainable international chemical manage-
ment framework. Now, Parties must now concentrate on avoiding the
potholes and pitfalls of ratification and implementation issues so asto
ensurethat thisis an effective Convention.

THINGSTO LOOK FOR

DIPLOMATIC CONFERENCE FOR ADOPTION OF THE
PIC CONVENTION: The Diplomatic Conference for the Adoption
of an International Legally Binding Instrument for the Application of
the Prior Informed Consent Procedure for Certain Hazardous Chemi-
calsand Pesticidesin International Tradeis scheduled for September
in Rotterdam, The Netherlands. For moreinformation contact: UNEP
Chemicals (IRPTC), tel: +41 (22) 979-9111; fax: +41 (22) 797-3460;
e-mail: jwillis@unep.ch; internet: http://irptc.unep.ch/pic/. Or contact:
FAO, tel: +39 (6) 5705 3441; fax: +39 (6) 5705 6347; email:
niek.vandergraaff @fao.org; internet: http://www.fao.org/ag/agp/agpp/
pesticid/pic/pichome.htm.

PERSISTENT ORGANIC POLLUTANTS: TheFirst Session
of the Persistent Organic Pollutants (POPs) Intergovernmental Negoti-
ating Committee (INC-1) is scheduled for 29 June-3 July 1998in
Montreal, Canada. The Second Session istentatively scheduled for 7-
12 February 1999 in Geneva. For more information contact: UNEP
Chemicals (IRPTC); tel: +41 (22) 979-9190; fax: +41 (22) 797-3460;
e-mail: dogden@unep.ch; internet: http://irptc.unep.ch/pops/.

INTERGOVERNMENTAL FORUM ON CHEMICAL
SAFETY: The Third Meeting of the Intersessional Group (1SG-3) will
be held from 1-4 December 1998 in Yokohama, Japan. Brazil will
forwarditsdecisionto host FORUM I11, scheduled for late 2000, to the
IFCS as soon as possible. The Plenary also agreed tentatively to hold
ISG-4in 2002. For information on these meetings, contact the IFCS
Secretariat, World Health Organization, CH-1211 Geneva 27, Switzer-
land; tel: +41 (22) 791-3588; fax: +41 (22) 791-4848; e-mail:
ifcs@who.ch; internet: http://www.who.ch/whosig/ifcg/ifcshome.htm.

WTO COMMITTEE ON TRADE AND ENVIRONMENT:
From 17-18 March 1998, the WTO Committee on Trade and Environ-
ment (CTE) will convene asecond NGO Symposium in Geneva:
Strengthening Complementarities between Trade, Environment and
Sustainable Devel opment. Parti cipants and speakers have beeninvited
from the private sector, research and academic institutes, and environ-
ment and devel opment NGOs. The Symposium will addressthree
broad themes: identifying institutional linksin the trade-environment-
sustai nable devel opment nexus; deepening understanding of the
economic links between trade liberalization and the environment; and
examining theissue of legal compatibility between international trade
and environmental policies. The CTE itself will meet immediately
following the Symposium on 19-20 March 1998. For further informa-
tion contact Sabrina Shaw at the WTO Secretariat, Environment Divi-
sion, tel: +41 (22) 739-5383; fax: +41 (22) 739-5620; e-mail:
sabrina.shaw@wto.org; internet: http://www.wto.org.

COMMISSION ON SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT: The
Commission on Sustainable Development (CSD) will hold its sixth
session (CSD-6) in New York from 20 April-1 May 1998. For more
information contact the Division for Sustainable Development, United
Nations Plaza, Room DC2-2270, New York, NY 10017 USA; tel: +1
(212) 963 3170; fax: + 1 (212) 963 4260; internet: http://www.un.org/
esa/sustdev/; e-mail: dpcsd@un.org.

|EP’98: Issuesin Environmental Pollution (IEP'98), thefirstina
new series of international symposia, will take placefrom 23-26
August 1998 in Denver, Colorado, USA. The symposiumwill focuson
the state and use of science and predictive models. The main scientific
issues in environmental pollution—persistent organic chemicals;
metals and radioactivity; ozone and acidic deposition; particulates at
global climate change—will be linked with the use of science and
predictive models. For more information, contact Lyn Quirke at the
Conference Secretariat; tel: +44 (0) 1235-868380; fax: +44 (0) 1235-
868420; e-mail: lynquirke@compuserve.com. Also try http://
www.elsevier.nl/locate/iep98.



